



Scan code to view reports

Monday, 16 October 2023

To All Councillors:

As a Member or Substitute of the **Biodiversity Sub-Committee**, please treat this as your summons to attend a meeting on **Tuesday**, **24 October 2023** at **6.00 pm** in the **Council Chamber**, **Town Hall, Matlock, DE4 3NN**

Yours sincerely,

unalune.

Paul Wilson Chief Executive

This information is available free of charge in electronic, audio, Braille and large print versions, on request.

For assistance in understanding or reading this document or specific information about this Agenda or on the "Public Participation" initiative please call the Committee Team on 01629 761133 or email committee@derbyshiredales.gov.uk

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Please advise the Democratic Services Team on 01629 761133 or email <u>committee@derbyshire.gov.uk</u> of any apologies for absence.

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 5 - 14)

13 September 2023

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

To enable members of the public to ask questions, express views or present petitions, **IF NOTICE HAS BEEN GIVEN**, (by telephone, in writing or by email) **BY NO LATER THAN 12 NOON OF THE WORKING DAY PRECEDING THE MEETING**. As per Procedural Rule 14.4 at any one meeting no person may submit more than 3 questions and no more than 1 such question may be asked on behalf of one organisation.

4. INTERESTS

Members are required to declare the existence and nature of any interests they may have in subsequent agenda items in accordance with the District Council's Code of Conduct. Those interests are matters that relate to money or that which can be valued in money, affecting the Member, their partner, extended family and close friends. Interests that become apparent at a later stage in the proceedings may be declared at the time.

5. PROPOSAL FOR A COLLABORATIVE PROJECT BETWEEN DERBYSHIRE SWIFT CONSERVATION PROJECT AND DERBYSHIRE DALES DISTRICT COUNCIL (Pages 15 - 22)

The report presents a proposal from the Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project for a collaborative project to address the loss of Swift nesting sites across the district.

6. BIODIVERSITY NET GAIN UPDATE

On the 27th September 2023 DEFRA confirmed that the Government was delaying the introduction of the mandate to deliver 10% Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) on all sites, contained in the 2021 Environment Act.

BNG was meant to become part of the planning system in England in November 2023. However, DEFRA has said that under its 'updated timetable' developers will be required to deliver net gain on all sites from January 2024.

DEFRA also announced that by the end of November they would publish all guidance and the regulations including:

- The statutory biodiversity metric, critical for calculating the correct BNG

- The draft BNG template, which will help developers plan for what they need to do during planning application stages

The Habitat Management and Monitoring Plan template, which will set out how the improved significant on-site and off-site habitats will be managed for the long term
A package of BNG guidance that sets out further advice for landowners, developers and LPAs around their roles and responsibilities in delivering BNG

A further update to Members on the Councils activities in preparation for the delayed launch of BNG will be provided as part of a wider Biodiversity update report in November as agreed at the Sub-Committee meeting on 13 September 2023.

<u>Members of the Committee</u> - Councillors Matt Buckler (Chair), Martin Burfoot (Vice-Chair), John Bointon, Stuart Lees, Roger Shelley and Peter Slack

NOTE

For further information about this Agenda or on "Public Participation" call 01629 761133 or email <u>committee@derbyshiredales.gov.uk</u>



This information is available free of charge in electronic, audio, Braille and large print versions, on request.

For assistance in understanding or reading this document or specific information about this Agenda or on the "Public Participation" initiative please call the Committee Team on 01629 761133 or email

committee@derbyshiredales.gov.uk

Biodiversity Sub-Committee

Minutes of a Biodiversity Sub-Committee meeting held at 6.00 pm on Wednesday. 13th September, 2023 in the Council Chamber, Town Hall, Matlock, DE4 3NN.

Councillor Matt Buckler - In the Chair PRESENT

> Councillors: Martin Burfoot, John Bointon, Stuart Lees, Roger Shelley and Peter Slack

Officers: Tim Braund (Director of Regulatory Services), Joanna Hill (Climate Change Project Officer), Mike Hase (Policy Manager), Samantha Grisman (Clean & Green Manager) and Angela Gratton (Democratic Services Officer)

Public: 2

Note:

"Opinions expressed or statements made by individual persons during the public participation part of a Council or committee meeting are not the opinions or statements of Derbyshire Dales District Council. These comments are made by individuals who have exercised the provisions of the Council's Constitution to address a specific meeting. The Council therefore accepts no liability for any defamatory remarks that are made during a meeting that are replicated on this document."

APOLOGIES

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor(s):

115/23 - APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

It was moved by Councillor Peter Slack, Seconded by Councillor Martin Burfoot and

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting of the Biodiversity Sub Committee held on 19 July 2023 be approved as a correct record.

Voting

05 For 00 Against 01 Abstentions

The Chair declared the motion **CARRIED**.

116/23 - PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

In accordance with the procedure for public participation Ms Laura Stevens (Matlock Local Resident) gave a statement and asked a question regarding the District Council's use of Glyphosate.

"Glyphosate as a weed control product is used in small quantities on Derbyshire County Council (DCC) Countryside sites by certificated staff using appropriate PPE.

Primarily it is used as an herbicide on INNS (invasive non-native species) on our sites. In practice, this is Giant Hogweed and Japanese knotweed, for which there is little or no alternative treatment. This is generally applied by spray, but we have recently started using an injector to deliver a metered dose into the plant stem as this is a more effective methods of treatment.

On 16 March 2023 at a DDDC council meeting, two people asked DDDC about their use of glyphosate. The following answer was given:

We appreciate the concerns around the use of glyphosate and we are trying to balance this against this other factor such as, complaints and service requests received and the resources available to provide hand removal. Therefore, we are proposing to reintroduce its use in a significantly reduced and limited manner. The use will solely be considered for closed churchyards and access roads to cemeteries and leisure centres. All other areas will continue to be managed with a weed ripper and hand weeding. This was decided in 2020 following a review of possible alternatives.

Please note the point in the report that we will continue to work towards finding a suitable replacement for glyphosate.

Sue Bliss took the attached images* in May and August of this year. Concerned that glyphosate was being used in an area where children play and dogs roam freely, Sue submitted a FOI request to DDDC on the use of glyphosate. The FOI response was as follows:

This is a Derbyshire County Council footpath so it is sprayed twice a year with Gallup Biograde 360.

The above response has been provided by the Green & Clean Manager.

Gallup Biograde 360 is glyphosate and I understand that the Green & Clean manager at DDDC is Samantha Grisman.

If the use of glyphosate is confined to non-native invasive species by DCC and closed churchyards etc. by DDDC why is it being used on a footpath which runs through a green area where children play, and dogs are walked?"

*Submitted images available upon request.

RESPONSE:

Thank you for your question.

At the meeting of Council in July 2023, the decision was made to continue not to use glyphosate on District Council land including closed churchyards, other than for the control of invasive species.

The images shared are of a County Council owned footpath, not District Council owned land. However, both authorities are working together to understand the possibilities of an alternative weed management programme on the highways.

STATEMENT and QUESTION from Dr Sheila Evans, Matlock Local Resident

"In January, the Biodiversity Sub-Committee council resolved to support the recovery of nature across Derbyshire Dales. The details of the recovery will be outlined in an 'action plan'. As a local resident, and member of Derbyshire Dales Climate HUB, I endorse fully this proposal. There is indeed, a wider mandate for action.

The HUB undertook a research-led survey in 2021 of over a thousand local people. It indicated there was a very strong desire (over 95%) to improve local biodiversity. This included the use of nature to prevent flooding and support for local farmers to undertake pro-nature initiatives. Individuals expressed a willingness to take actions, including volunteering to re-wild verges, to enhance woodlands and wetlands. Over 95% who participated wanted the council to take pro-nature actions, including supporting farmers to green-up their land and initiate nature-based solutions to flooding. This provides a clear directive to improve biodiversity both across the estates and within the communities you serve. Since 2021, there is increasing awareness by residents of the biodiversity crisis and the need to take concrete steps to reverse Nature's decline.

Britain's road verges, for example, cover an area the size of Dorset and, if managed appropriately, high-maintenance, low-biodiversity verges can be converted into a connected network of wildflower rich grassland. This in turn can provide food for insects and birds. Such verges are vital habitat for Nature as the UK has lost 97% of its' wildflower meadows since the 1930s. As was shown when Rotherham initiated rewilding strategies, this transformation does not need to be costly - it led to savings on mowing costs of £23,000 a year.

You may receive emails that refute the survey's results. Residents may complain of areas left uncut looking 'neglected' or 'scruffy', or that visibility is compromised by long grass. There are ways, however, to manage these issues. These are outlined clearly in the excellent website Plantlife UK.

To ensure community buy-in, the advice on the website specifies communication and consultation with local people as essential. You can undertake a short survey to canvass public opinion. The HUB could help with this. I'm certain the result, like the 2021 survey, would indicate most people would want a ribbon of wildflowers running alongside roads and on roundabouts; supporting crucial pollinators like bees and butterflies. What's not to like, as it's to everyone's advantage, including future generations. A connected network of such green spaces is one essential part of the district's nature recovery.

So my request is, please include in the plan details of how we can create such a connected network of green spaces, and indications as to the rapid pace it is required, that meets the demands of the recognised crisis we are all facing.

I have provided one example here, road verges, but there are many other, often interlinked ways to improve the biodiversity across the district as well as address and mitigate the climate emergency: plant to prevent flooding, improve the quality of our rivers etc. I hope these are also detailed in the action plan."

RESPONSE:

Derbyshire County Council have been appointed by Government as the responsible authority for the preparation of the Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS) - <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/local-nature-recovery-strategies/local-nature-recovery-strategies</u>

https://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/environment/conservation/local-nature-recovery/local-nature-recovery.aspx

They will need to work with other organisations and partners across the County to agree what should be included in the strategy identifying practical, achievable proposals developed with the input of people who know and understand the area. The strategy will propose where actions could be carried out for best effect and to connect and expand existing areas that are important for nature. They must undertake a public consultation on the strategy before it is published.

The action plan specification agreed by the Sub-Committee on Wednesday 13th September included the need for this Council to influence the development of the LRNS, ensuring that the plan complements the emerging strategy however it is not intended to replace or duplicate it. The intent is that the plan, which we hope to bring back before Council in April, is a series of clear and measurable actions that help us meet our Biodiversity Duty under the Environment Act 2021. It will build on some of the existing workstreams, such as the verges project, and identify opportunities for other initiatives which may include those you mention in your email.

STATEMENT and QUESTION from Ms Sue Bliss, Matlock Local Resident

"Allowing wildflowers to develop, grow and mature provides vital habitat, nectar, and pollen which sustains insect life. 75% of insects have been lost in the last 50 years. DDDC regularly mows down huge swathes of wildflowers during the growing season. An example of which can be seen in the first image*. This is unacceptable when it is generally accepted that we need to manage at least 30% of land and sea for nature.

People who prefer dead grass to wildflowers need to be educated. Mowing round the edges of wildflower areas (see 2nd attached image*) with informative and educational signage would, I'm sure satisfy most of those people who like to control nature.

Please answer the following question:

DDDC could leave wildflowers to thrive and mow round the edges of such areas. Why doesn't this happen?"

*Submitted images available upon request.

RESPONSE:

Thank you for your question.

Your recommendation is one idea of many that will need to be explored as part of a wider strategy for the future. Enhancing biodiversity is a clear objective for the District Council.

The Biodiversity Sub-Committee will look to continue the Biodiversity Project under a new Biodiversity Action Plan. Your recommendation will likely be a strategy to consider. However, selecting areas for enhancement and a new management regime needs to be a

done in a structured manner to include highway safety, local users, accessibility and encompass other perspectives.

STATEMENT and QUESTION from Ms Rachel Murray, Matlock Local Resident

"Firstly, may I say that I welcome the formation of the biodiversity sub-committee. My question is in relation to the mowing and hedge cutting regime. I am fully supportive of wildflower verges and areas left uncut by the council. When verges are cut I would like to know if, rather than cutting the entire verge, a border could be cut leaving the wildflowers and grasses untouched in the centre. In regard to hedgerow cutting, can the cutting be carried out in the winter when many valuable plants have died back naturally rather than in the autumn when they are still a valuable source of food and nectar for many species?

Thank you for considering my questions"

RESPONSE:

Thank you for your question

As also covered in the response provided to Ms Bliss' question above, the practice of mowing a border around verges and leaving the centre uncut is an idea that will need to be explored as part of the wider Biodiversity Strategy moving forwards.

With regards to hedge cutting, this forms part of the Clean and Green winter work programme, however certain hedges in play areas, on car parks or near walking routes are cut for access. Most hedges are cut once a year.

STATEMENT and QUESTION from Ms Dawn Hind, Local Resident

"Could you confirm if there is policy and procedure around how, when and where you mow verges and public areas

If so, how will this be incorporated into the Biodiversity Action Plan."

RESPONSE:

Thank you for your question.

The current frequencies and standards for mowing verges and public areas were approved by Council at the meeting held in July 2023. There are many areas within the Council's Biodiversity Project that receive an alternative management process which aims to enhance biodiversity.

The newly formed Biodiversity Sub-Committee intends to further this project under the Biodiversity Action Plan, the details of which are yet to be established but will be published in due course.

STATEMENT and QUESTION from Ms Sue Bliss, Matlock Local Resident

"I applied to manage a wildflower verge but was told the neighbours didn't agree. I know the immediate neighbours adjacent to the designated verge and they were very enthusiastic. So, I'm wondering how far afield it is that neighbours' agreement is needed. I was also asked to submit a plan of works but know others who were not asked to do this.

One person I know was told to reapply later in the year. Another asked specific questions but did not get all the answers, despite an exchange of several emails. Another person was told neighbours have to be consulted but others were not informed of this.

There doesn't seem to be a clear application process to adopt a wildflower verge. I and several others have endeavoured to establish the 'process' for wildflower verge adoption, but information is patchy and inconsistent. Some people have already been put off by the inconsistencies.

It isn't dissimilar to applying for a job. If you don't have the job description and personal specification, it just isn't possible to submit a coherent and successful application.

Please could we have a clear and transparent process on how residents/public apply to manage a wildflower verge?"

RESPONSE:

Thank you for your question.

Thank you for your feedback regarding the process to engage in the Biodiversity Project. This is the first time it been raised with us that the process is unclear.

As part of the Biodiversity Project, residents and Councillors have been invited to recommend areas for an alternative management regime to enhance biodiversity. The areas included verges, parks, public open spaces, roundabouts, ponds etc. The Council received many recommendations, and they were all visited and assessed against a number of different factors, such as visibility and local use. The County Council Highways Department were notified for highway safety and each group seeking to engage in the project was met on site and advised of the necessary activities.

During the summer of 2022, the Council held a meeting between the groups that had engaged with the Biodiversity Project to share knowledge and experiences and the feedback was positive.

The areas put forward by yourself were on a housing estate, so the residents were required to be consulted. The result of the consultation was to avoid the areas recommended and pursue other areas on the estate. Should opinions have changed, the Council would welcome more recommendations to the project.

STATEMENT and QUESTION from Mr Andy Broadhurst, Derbyshire Swift Conservation

"Modern housing is designed to ensure new properties lack any gaps and spaces that can be used as breeding sites by urban bird species.

When combined with the on-going loss of potential nest sites on existing buildings caused by refurbishment and repairs, this overall reduction of breeding opportunities has resulted in a long-term decline of urban birds including Swifts, House Sparrows, House Martins and Starlings, all of which now red-listed, indicating species of high conservation concern.

Early attempts to provide nest sites for these species involved the installation of nest boxes on the exterior walls of buildings with boxes individually designed for each species. More recently it has been recognised that integrating such nest sites into the structure of the new buildings is a much-preferred solution as they are a permanent feature of the building, require zero maintenance, are aesthetically integrated with the design of the building, are less vulnerable to vandalism and have better thermal regulation with future climate change in mind.

Furthermore, analysis of breeding records from new housing estates built with integrated Swift bricks has shown that these spaces are readily used by both Swifts and other urban bird species, so Swift bricks should be considered a "universal" nest brick for small bird species.

The UK National House Building Council (NHBC) Foundation report "Biodiversity in new housing developments: creating wildlife-friendly communities" (April 2021) states: "Provision of integral nest sites for swifts is through hollow chambers fitted into the fabric of a building while in construction [i.e. Swift bricks]. Although targeting swifts they will also be used by house sparrows, tits and starlings so are considered a 'universal brick'" (section 8.1 Nest sites for birds, page 42): <u>https://www.nhbc.co.uk/foundation/biodiversity-in-new-housing-developments</u>. This has been documented elsewhere by the Chartered Institute of Ecology and Environmental Management (CIEEM): <u>https://cieem.net/swift-bricks-the-universal-nest-brick-by-dick-newell/</u>

Best-practice guidance has recently been made available with the publication of **British Standard BS 42021:2022** "Integral Nest Boxes – selection & installation for new developments":

<u>https://knowledge.bsigroup.com/products/integral-nest-boxes-selection-and-installation-for-new-developments-specification-1/standard</u>

One key element of this guidance is that all integral nest boxes should be Swift bricks, as these can be safely used by all small bird species including Swifts.

We request, therefore, that the DDDC Biodiversity Sub-Committee votes to accept that this best practice, in the form of compliance with British Standard 42021:2022, should be adopted into the new Local Plan for Derbyshire Dales."

RESPONSE:

Thank you for your detailed statement and request.

In July 2021 the Council adopted a Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on Climate Change. This SPD which is a material consideration in the determination of planning applications encourages developers to include 'at least one of the following: bird/bat boxes/swift bricks /amphibian kerbs/hibernacula/hedgehog holes/ hedgehog homes/garden ponds' in new build residential and non-residential development.

The adopted Derbyshire Dales Local Plan is currently subject to review. Council in January 2022 resolved that PD3 Biodiversity and the Natural Environment was identified as an part of the Local Plan requiring modification to ensure that it achieves best practice in regards to Biodiversity:

https://democracy.derbyshiredales.gov.uk/Data/Council/20220119/Agenda/01%20-%20Derbyshire%20Dales%20Local%20Plan.pdf

Through the Local Plan review the Council has acknowledged that there is a need to bring much of the contents of the Climate Change SPD into the main body of the Local Plan so that it is policy rather than guidance.

The Council now has a dedicated Local Plan Sub-Committee. At their most recent meeting on the 3rd July 2023 it was agreed that consideration will need to be given about how nature

recovery can be incorporated within the plan seeking guidance from agencies such as the Derbyshire Wildlife Trust.

Whilst the proposal has considerable merit the District Council needs to give full consideration to the options available to it in respect of this issue. Recommended changes to Policy PD3 will be brought to future meetings of the Local Plan Sub Committee, as well Community and Environment Committee and Council.

117/23 - INTERESTS

Item 6 Biodiversity Project

Councillor Matthew Buckler declared a pecuniary interest in Item 6 due to his role with Derbyshire Wildlife Trust.

Councillor Peter Slack declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 6 due to being a member of Wilder Wirksworth.

Councillor Martin Burfoot declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 6 due to being a Member of Matlock in Bloom.

Councillor John Bointon declared a pecuniary interest in Item 6 due to having a contract to cut verges and pathways for Doveridge Parish Council

118/23 - ACTION PLAN FOR NATURE SPECIFICATION

The Climate Change Project Officer introduced a report presenting a specialist professional services quotation brief for the approval of Members. The resulting action plan will allow the Council to meet the requirements of the enhanced Biodiversity Duty as set out in the Environment Act 2021.

The plan should consider existing and emerging local strategies but focus on the actions that the Council can take in the short to medium term. It is intended that the plan will build on the workstreams that are currently underway, identifying opportunities to enhance these and seek new opportunities particularly where partnership working is possible. The plan should clearly set out the resource implications of continuing and new workstreams, identifying opportunities for funding. The term of the plan is proposed as 3 years (2024-27) to align with the current Council term.

Members were asked to note the timescale for the work a three-stage process. The expectation is that a draft action plan will be developed from late December 2023 for approval by the Council in Spring 2024.

It was moved by Councillor Martin Burfoot seconded by Councillor Roger Shelley and

RESOLVED (Unanimously)

- 1. That the specialist professional services quotation brief at Appendix 1 is approved.
- 2. That the funding mechanism for the plan, as set out in paragraph 7, is approved.
- 3. That Council, via the Community and Environment Committee, be requested to approve a supplementary revenue budget in 2023/24 to reflect the proposed expenditure of

£58,791 associated with the action plan for nature specification and work to prepare for the delivery of Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG). This would be financed by the transfer of £11,984 from the grants unapplied reserve, £26,807 grant receivable in 2023/24 and £20,000 from the General Reserve

The Chair declared the motion **CARRIED**.

119/23 - BIODIVERSITY PROJECT UPDATE

The Clean and Green Manager gave a presentation updating Members on the current biodiversity pilot projects and discuss with Members the next steps for the proposal to take to the next Community & Environment Committee (C&E) meeting on 26 October 23.

It was moved by Councillor Martin Burfoot, Seconded by Councillor Peter Slack and

RESOLVED (Unanimously)

That the Clean and Green Manager should include the following in the report to C&E:

- 1. Merge the report with the Climate Change Officers report.
- 2. Pathfinder results to be presented in the report with the option to merge any sites into the Biodiversity Project.
- 3. The Wider Action Plan to incorporate public feedback, consultation and communication next April.
- 4. Motion operation for management of grass verges for next year– keeping the wider verges tidy by keeping a band mown at the edge.
- 5. Management proposal for a local DDDC site
- 6. Liaise with other Councils to see whether they are using Native or non-native seed mixes.
- 7. Work in partnership with other organisations Local Community groups, Schools, Associations such as Derbyshire Beekeepers Association.
- 8. Produce a 'How to guide at Home' to offer service to the community.
- 9. Review signage and explore larger options.
- 10. Investigate the DCC process for selecting changes for the mowing regimes next year on the back of the Pathfinder data.

The Chair declared the motion **CARRIED**.

Meeting Closed: 7.40 pm

Chairman

This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 5

OPEN REPORT BIODIVERSITY SUB-COMMITTEE

Biodiversity Sub-Committee – 24 October 2023

Proposal for a collaborative project between Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project and Derbyshire Dales District Council

Report of Director of Regulatory Services

Report Author and Contact Details

Joanna Hill, Climate Change Project Officer 01629 761243 or joanna.hill@derbyshiredales.gov.uk

Wards Affected

District-wide

Report Summary

The report presents a proposal from the Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project for a collaborative project to address the loss of Swift nesting sites across the district.

Recommendations

1. That a delivery plan and costings are prepared for the project and presented to the appropriate committee for consideration.

List of Appendices

Appendix 1 Project proposal

Background Papers

None

Consideration of report by Council or other committee Yes

Council Approval Required

Yes – for approval of any required resource.

Exempt from Press or Public

No

Proposal for a collaborative project between Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project and Derbyshire Dales District Council

1. Background

- 1.1 The Environment Act brought into force in November 2021 introduced a wide range of responsibilities in relation to Biodiversity some of which will fall directly to the County Council to implement but others of which fall to the District Council.
- 1.2 Section 102 of the Act amends the NERC Act 2006 by making it a Biodiversity Duty to 'conserve and enhance' in relation to council functions.
- 1.3 A report to Council on 16 March 2023 advised Members about the Biodiversity Duty, and set out activities which the District Council has, and is currently undertaking that contributes to meeting the new requirement. It recommended that a plan be prepared which sets out further actions the District Council should undertake to meet the requirements of the newly enhanced biodiversity duty.
- 1.4 At a meeting of the Biodiversity Sub-Committee on 19 July 2023 it was agreed that a 'Biodiversity action plan' would be prepared, a specification for which was agreed at the meeting on 13 September 2023. Preparation of the plan will begin in December 2023 subject to approval at Council.
- 1.5 Members were keen that initiatives to enhance biodiversity in the district continued throughout the preparation of the action plan.

2. Key Issues

- 2.1 The proposal seeks to develop a collaborative project between the Council and a local Swift Conservation Project. In common with several other long-distance migratory bird species breeding numbers of the Common Swift have declined by more than 65% across the UK over the past 25 years. The main factor behind the decline of Swifts appears to be the ongoing loss of suitable nest sites as building repair renovation and replacement gradually results in the loss of access holes to their nest sites within the fabric of buildings.
- 2.2 A request was made to the 13 September 2023 Biodiversity Sub-Committee by residents for the provision of integral nest sites for Swifts through hollow chambers fitted into the fabric of a building (Swift bricks) during new development. The issue was discussed by the Sub-Committee and Members expressed their support for this request. It was agreed that this discussion would be taken up through the Local plan Sub-Committee as part of the Local Plan review.
- 2.3 The Council has an approved Climate Change Supplementary Planning Document (SPD). The SPD currently encourages applicants to consider the inclusion of Swift bricks in new development. The Council has previously

agreed that there is a need to bring much of the contents of the into the main body of the Local Plan so that it is policy rather than guidance.

2.4 This proposal focuses on creating and replacing nesting sites on our existing housing and buildings. The opportunity presented is clearly at a significant scale and less time constrained than interventions on new built development. The installation of Swift boxes – phase 3 of the proposed project - is a simple and relatively inexpensive process but it is important that these preceding phases are undertaken to ensure the interventions have the most impact.

3. Options Considered and Recommended Proposal

3.1 The recommendation is to work with the Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project explore this proposal, including appropriate funding streams.

4. Consultation

4.1 Consultation will be considered in project design.

5. Timetable for Implementation (proposed)

- 5.1 The proposal is for a two-year project in the first instance.
- 5.2 Phase One of the project data collection and surveying would begin in Spring 2024 as the Swifts return to the UK.
- 5.3 Prior to the Phase One beginning the Council would work with the Swift Conservation Project to refine the aims of the project, explore sources of funding and develop funding bids.

6. Policy Implications

6.1 There are no policy implications associated with this project proposal.

7. Financial and Resource Implications

7.1 There are no current financial implications associated with exploring the proposal.

8. Legal Advice and Implications

8.1 Section 102 of the Environment Act 2021 – brought into effect on 1st January 2023 requires that in carrying out its functions that the District Council must consider how it will conserve and enhance biodiversity.

9. Equalities Implications

9.1 There are no perceived equalities implications of developing this proposed project.

10. Climate Change and Biodiversity Implications

- 10.1 There are no perceived climate change impacts of the proposed project.
- 10.2 Swift boxes are referred to as 'universal nesting boxes'. They can accommodate house sparrows, starlings, tree sparrows, blue tits, great tits and occasionally house martins therefore offering nesting sites to a variety of native bird species. Stabilising and reversing species loss has a clear benefit to biodiversity both locally and globally.

11. Risk Management

11.1 There are no risks associated with the project proposal.

Report Authorisation

Approvals obtained from Statutory Officers:-

	Named Officer	Date
Chief Executive		
Director of Resources/ S.151 Officer		
(or Financial Services Manager)		
Monitoring Officer		
(or Legal Services Manager)		

Proposal: Swift Conservation in the Derbyshire Dales

Background

In common with several other long-distance migratory bird species such as spotted flycatcher, wood warbler and cuckoo, breeding numbers of the Common Swift (*apus apus*) have **declined by more than 65%** across the UK over the past 25 years (ref), a statistic reflected by its recent designation as a **red-listed bird of conservation concern** (ref). In contrast to these other species, however, the main factor behind the decline of Swifts appears to be the ongoing loss of suitable nest sites (ref) as building repair renovation and replacement gradually results in the loss of access holes to their nest sites within the fabric of buildings. As Swifts nest almost exclusively on buildings and readily take to artificial nest boxes and nest bricks this presents an opportunity to stabilise and potentially reverse this situation by the provision of supplementary nest sites in the form of nest boxes.

Swift Conservation in the UK

The vast majority of the Swift conservation movement in the UK is driven by volunteers. There are over 100 Swift groups nationally, some focussing on villages and towns, some working at the county level and a couple which are national in their coverage.

Nationally, there are numerous examples of once Swift-rich areas which have suffered obvious population declines being rescued by the timely actions of local Swift groups, always by the simple measure of installing nest boxes or bricks. Notable examples are the **North Milton Estate** and **Regents Park** in **Hampshire** (refs) and similarly XXXX in Cambridgeshire. Unfortunately, there are also examples of large swift colonies which have been totally lost because nothing was done at the time (ref).

Swift Conservation in the Derbyshire Dales

In **Rowsley**, just outside Bakewell, a large Swift colony was discovered in 2021 and how Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project have managed this represents best-practice in terms of the conservation of this species. The process we have implemented has 3 stages:

1) surveying (i.e. identifying the exact location of every nest);

2) risk assessment (who owns the building, when will it be renovated and what are the chances we can intervene?) and

3) mitigation measures (installing as many nest boxes as possible in the immediate vicinity to create alternative nest sites).

In the case of Rowsley (and other towns and villages in the Derbyshire Dales such as Darley Dale and Bradwell), the burden of the surveying work falls onto volunteers. We currently rely on a number of lead co-ordinators across Derbyshire (a 'Swift champion') in each area who is prepared to manage contacts, co-ordinate surveys through the breeding season, and then collate and submit survey data. The second phase depends on local knowledge, and this is best accessed via public talks and meetings with local groups and like-minded individuals followed by contacts with landlords and other property owners. Phase III requires co-ordination of box supply and installation as well as sourcing grants to minimise the cost to householders.

Rationale

At the local level (and indeed this is echoed nationally), successful swift conservation is constrained by the availability of sufficiently motivated and knowledgeable volunteers. For example, in the Derbyshire Dales there are 14 towns & villages with populations of 1000 people or more. Of these, we have detailed knowledge of the Swift population in two or three (Darley Dale, Bradwell, and to a lesser extent Hathersage), thanks to local enthusiasts and their teams. We have preliminary survey data and site evaluation/knowledge of the situation in a further 5 locations. This leaves a huge gap in our knowledge: we do not have a complete picture of the distribution and number of swift colonies in Derbyshire. We do not have sufficient data to make evidence-based decisions for Derbyshire Dales; and we still don't know where most Swifts are nesting, meaning we cannot take action to protect these nest sites.

Project proposal

To address this deficit in information in a timely manner we propose a collaborative project between Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project and Derbyshire Dales District Council.

Aim

To promote species conservation in the Derbyshire Dales by conserving Swifts, by

1) providing data to support decision making

2) conserving and increasing nest site availability

The Derbyshire Dales Swift Project would have 3 phases, as follows:

Phase I : surveying

Objectives:

1) To provide accurate data to determine distribution of nesting swift colonies

2) To provide accurate data to determine estimates of swift population numbers

3) Establish areas and types of buildings used and preferred by swifts

Recruit a professional surveyor ('project co-ordinator) to identify, train and co-ordinate volunteers, working with local groups to provide detailed mapping of Swift nest sites in {to be confirmed] locations in Derbyshire Dales. The aim would be to collect the data needed to make good, evidence-based decisions to support swift conservation, including ascertaining the areas favoured by Swifts and to identify the precise buildings and structures they use to nest.

Phase II: risk assessment

Objectives:

4) Identify high risk areas where nest sites will be lost

5) Raise awareness of swift decline and importance of nest availability

Working with the project co-ordinator and local volunteers, the Derbyshire Dales Swift Project would fund events (meeting rooms, printing costs etc) and help raise local awareness of the project and what we're trying to achieve. The Aims would be to identify high risk areas, establish contact with landlords, social housing managers and householders and plan distribution and extent of nest box installation.

Phase III: mitigation

Objectives:

6) Establish nest installation programme

7) Monitor impact of nest box programme

Once the target number of boxes is identified, based on the evidence collected, Derbyshire Dales Swift Project would set up a nest installation programme. By providing a recognised, credible source of advice, an installation service, we would be able to instigate a successful nest box programme across the Derbyshire Dales. Examples of actions to encourage uptake could include: a) pay installation costs; b) subsidise box costs for householders who take part in the scheme; c) a fund to be allocated for free provision of boxes to households unable to pay.

Monitoring: householders would be encouraged to take part in citizen science project to record uptake of swift nest boxes We would also use nest box webcam to create public awareness on our websites and social media

Delivery Plan

Delivery Plan and costings to be established by Derbyshire Swift Conservation Project in consultation with partner DDDC.

This page is intentionally left blank